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CONSENT DECREE

WHEREAS, the Plaintiff, the United States of America, on behalf of the United States
Environmental Protection Agency (“EPA”), filed the Second Amended Complaint (“Complaint”)
(Docket # 116) against Defendants John A. Rapanos, Judith Ann Nelkie Rapanos, Prodo, Inc.,
Rolling Meadows Hunt Club, and Pine River Bluff Estates, Inc. (collectively, “Defendants”),
alleging that Defendants violated Section 301(a) of the Clean Water Act (“CWA”), 33 U.S.C. §
1311(a), and violated three EPA administrative orders;

WHEREAS, the Complaint alleges that Defendants violated CWA Section 301(a) by
discharging dredged or fill material and/or controlling and directing the discharge of dredged or
fill material into waters of the United States at six sites (“Sites”) located in Midland and Bay
Counties, Michigan, without authorization by the United States Department of the Army (the
“Corps”) or the State of Michigan;

WHEREAS, the Sites are: (1) the Salzburg Road Site; (2) the Hines Road (also known as
Northwood) Site; (3) the Pine River Site; (4) the Freelatet $) the Tittabawassee River (also
known as Mapleton) Site; and (6) the Jefferson Avenue Site; and are more fully described in the
Complaint and, for the Hines Road Site and the Pine River Site, in the legal descriptions attached
as Exhibit 1;

WHEREAS, the Complaint seeks: (1) to enjoin the discharge of pollutants into waters of
the United States in violation of CWA Section 301(a), 33 U.S.C. § 1311(a); (2) to require
Defendants, at their own expense and at the direction of EPA, to restore and/or mitigate the
damages caused by their alleged unlawful activities; anid (@quire Defendants to pay civil

penalties as provided in 33 U.S.C. § 1319(d);
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WHEREAS, on February 23, 1999, the Court granted partial summary judgment for
Defendants regarding the United States’ claims at the Jefferson Avenue Site (Docket # 201);

WHEREAS, this matter proceeded to trial in April 1999 on liability at the remaining Sites
and the Court issued its Findings of Fact and Conclusionawfdn March 24, 2000 (Docket #
232), finding that the Defendants violated three EPA Administrative Orders and violated section
301(a) of the CWA by discharging pollutants from a point source into a total of 54 acres of
wetlands that were waters of the United States at the Salzburg Road, Hines Road and Pine River
Sites without a valid permit;

WHEREAS, the Court also found that the government failed to prove by a preponderance
of the evidence that the three parameter test for demonstrating the existence of wetlands under
the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers 1987 Wetland Delineation Manual was met at the Freeland
Site or at the Tittabawassee River Site;

WHEREAS, the Court entered a Final Partial Judgment on &gb2d, 2003 (Docket #
271) which was appealed first to the United States CircwittGor the Sixth Circuit, and then to
the United States Supreme Court;

WHEREAS, the Supreme Court vacated the Sixth Circuit’'s decision and remanded the
matter;

WHEREAS, the Sixth Circuit remanded this matter to the District Court for further
proceedings;

WHEREAS, Defendants no longer hold title to, or control in any fashion, the Salzburg
Road Site;

WHEREAS, Defendant Rolling Meadows Hunt Club does not hiddtb or control in
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any fashion any of the Sites;

WHEREAS, the Defendants neither admit nor deny that they violated CWA Section
301(a), or any EPA administrative orders;

WHEREAS, this Consent Decree is intended to constitute a complete and final settlement
of the United States’ civil claims under the CWA set fortthim €omplaint regarding the Sites;

WHEREAS, the United States and Defendants agree that settlement of this case is in the
public interest and that entry of this Consent Decree is the most appropriate means of resolving
the United States’ civil claims under the CWA against Defendants in this case; and

WHEREAS, the Court finds that this Consent Decree is a reasonable and fair settlement
of the United States’ civil claims against Defendants in this case, and that this Consent Decree
adequately protects the public interest in accordancethetWA and all other applicable
federal law;

THEREFORE, without further adjudication of any issue of fact or law, and upon consent
of the parties hereto by their authorized representatives, it is hereby ORDERED, ADJUDGED
and DECREED as follows:

[. JURISDICTION AND VENUE

1. This Court has jurisdiction over the subject matter of these actions and over the
parties pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 88 1331, 1345, and 1355, and Section 309(b) of the CWA, 33
U.S.C. § 1319(b).

2. Venue is proper in the Eastern District of Michigan pursuant to CWA Section
309(b), 33 U.S.C. 8 1319(b), and 28 U.S.C. 88 1391(b) and (c), because the Defendants conduct

business in this District, the Sites are located in thigibisand the causes of action alleged in
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the Complaint arose in this District.
3. The Complaint states claims upon which relief can be eplgmirsuant to
Sections 301, 309 and 404 of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. 8§ 1311, 1319 and 1344.

II. APPLICABILITY

4, The obligations of this Consent Decree shall apply to and be binding upon
Defendants, their officers, directors, agents, employees and servants, and their successors and
assigns and any person, firm, association or corporation who is, or will be, a contractor or agent
for any of the Defendants, whether or not such person has notice of this Consent Decree. In any
action to enforce this Consent Decree against a Defendaridefendant shall not raise as a
defense the failure of any of its officers, directors, agents, employees, successors or assigns or
any person, firm or corporation acting as a contractor or agent for the Defendants, to take any
actions necessary to comply with the provisions hereof, except pursuant to Section IX (“Force
Majeure”).

5. A. The transfer of ownership or other interest in any offth&gation Sites”

(as defined in Section V.A “Specific Provisions - Mitigation”), or any of the “Conservation
Areas” (as defined in Section V.B “Specific Provisions - Preservation”), or all or any portion of
the Hines Road Site, or any portion of the Pine River Sitehwdoatains “Pine River Wetlands”

(as defined in Section V.C. “Specific Provisions - Future Work”), shall not alter or relieve
Defendants of their obligation to comply with all of the terofi this Consent Decree. At least
fifteen (15) days prior to a Defendant’s transfer of ownership or other interest in any of the
Mitigation Sites, or any of the Conservation Sites, or all or any portion of the Hines Road Site or

any portion of the Pine River Site which contains Pine River Wetlands, the Defendant making
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such transfer shall provide written notice and a true copy of this Consent Decree to the proposed
transferee. On January 31 and July 31 of each year, the Betendking such transfer shall
provide a written summary of all such transactions in the preceding July 1 - December 31 or
January 1 - June 30, as applicable, to EPA and to the United States Department of Justice, at the
addresses specified in Section XI (“Addresses”) and shall confirm that the required information
has been given to each transferee. As a condition to anyransfet referenced in this
Paragraph, the Defendant making the transfer shall reakmghts necessary to comply with
the terms of this Consent Decree. The granting of an easement for utility purposes shall not be a
transfer subject to the requirements of this Paragraph.

B. Each deed, title or other instrument conveying an interest in any of the
Mitigation Sites, or Conservation Areas, or all or any portion of the Hines Road Sitg, or a
portion of the Pine River Site which contains Pine River Wetlands, shall contain a notice stating
that such property is subject to this Consent Decree and shall reference the recorded location of
the Consent Decree and any restrictions applicable to the property under this Consent Decree.

[ll. SCOPE OF CONSENT DECREE

6. This Consent Decree shall constitute a complete andsitizédment of all civil
claims for injunctive relief and civil penalties allegediie Complaint against the Defendants
under the CWA concerning the Sites. The United States cotgenat to sue or bring any civil
enforcement action against any Defendant for violatideged in the Complaint. Entry of this
Consent Decree by the Court shall dismiss the Complaintprgfladice and without costs to
either party.

7. This Consent Decree does not impose any obligations bpddefendants with
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respect to the Salzburg Road Site, the Freeland Site, the Tittabawasse River Site or the Jefferson
Avenue Site.

8. It is the express purpose of the Parties in entering this Consent Decree to further
the objectives set forth in CWA Section 101, 33 U.S.C. 8 1251. All plans, studies, construction,
remedial maintenance, monitoring programs, and other obligations in this Consent Decree or
resulting from the activities required by this Consent Decree shall have the objective of causing
Defendants to achieve and maintain full compliance with, and to further the purposes of, the
CWA.

9. Defendants’ obligations under this Consent Decree mtegod several.

10. Except as in accordance with this Consent Decree, Dafendnd Defendants’
agents, successors and assigns are enjoined from discharging any pollutant into waters of the
United States, unless such discharge complies with théspmos of the CWA and its
implementing regulations.

11. Attached hereto as Exhibits 2 and 3 are maps based on Plaintiff's Ex. 131(]),
131(n), and 134 (m) from the 1999 trial on liability, showing filled wetlands at the Hines Road
and Pine River Sites. The Parties acknowledge that Nationwide Permit 32 (“NWP 32”), found at
72 Fed. Reg. 11092, 11,187 (Mar. 12, 2007), authorizes any fill that was placed as of April 20,
1999,i.e, the last day of trial on liability, in the areas identifiadexhibit 2 and Exhibit 3, to
remain in place subject to the conditions provided in NWP 32 and this Consent Decree. The
Parties further acknowledge that NWP 32 authorizes the discharge of dredged or fill material
insofar as such discharge is necessary to complete the eguikad to be performed pursuant to

this Consent Decree. Any such discharge of dredged or fill material necessary for work required
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by this Consent Decree shall be subject to the conditions of NWP 32 and this Consent Decree.

12. This Consent Decree is not and shall not be interpreted to be a permit or
modification of any existing permit issued pursuant to Sections 402 or 404 of the CWA, 33
U.S.C. 88 1342 or 1344, or any other law. Nothing in this Gari3ecree shall limit the ability
of the United States Army Corps of Engineers to issue, modify, suspend, revoke or deny any
individual permit or any nationwide or regional generahpgrother than NWP 32, nor shall this
Consent Decree limit the EPA’s ability to exercise its authority pursuant to Section 404(c) of the
CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1344(c).

13. This Consent Decree in no way affects or relieves Deféndatheir
responsibility to comply with any applicable federal,estat local law, regulation or permit.

14. This Consent Decree in no way affects the rights of theetl Gitates as against
any person not a party to this Consent Decree.

15. The United States reserves any and all legal and eguitabkdies available to
enforce the provisions of this Consent Decree and applicable law. Nothing in this Consent
Decree shall affect the United States’ rights to enforee@binsent Decree, or the United States’
rights to take enforcement action for violations not alleged in the Complaint.

16. Except for Section | (*Jurisdiction and Venue”), nothing in this Consent Decree
shall constitute an admission of fact or law by any Party. Defendants are not aware of any action
by Defendants after April 20, 1999, that could be deemed a violation of the CWA at either the
Hines Road Site or the Pine River Site.

17. Nothing in this Consent Decree shall be deemed an admission by Defendants that

any portion of the Sites are subject to regulatory jurisdiction under the CWA.
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18. Defendants waive any right to seek termination or modification of this Consent
Decree based upon future decisions of any court in any cesated to the Defendants or this
Consent Decree or the Sites, with respect to the regulatory jurisdiction under the CWA.

V. CIVIL PENALTIES

19. Defendants shall pay a civil penalty to the United States in the amount of One
Hundred Fifty Thousand Dollars ($150,000), within 180 days after entry of this Decree.

20. Defendants shall make the above-referenced paymerdbyife Electronic
Funds Transfer (“EFT” or wire transfer) to the U.S. Department of Justice account in accordance
with current electronic funds transfer procedures, referencing U.S.A.O. file number 1994V00584,
EPA Region 5, and DOJ case number 90-5-1-1-4274. Paymdrieihaade in accordance with
instructions provided to the Defendants by the Financial Litigation Unit of the United States
Attorney’s Office for the Eastern District of Michigan. Any payments received by the
Department of Justice after 4:00 P.M. (Eastern Time) will be credited on thbusexéss day.

21. Upon payment of the civil penalty required by this ConBexree, Defendants
shall provide written notice, at the addresses specified in Section XI (“Addresses”), that such
payment was made in accordance with this Section IV (“Civil Penalty”).

22. Upon satisfaction of the requirements of this Section IV (“Civil Penalty”),
Defendants’ obligation under the Final Partial Judgment (Docket # 271) to provide written
quarterly notice of all transfers of real estate where the consideration is in excess of $100,000
shall terminate.

23. Civil penalty payments pursuant to this Consent Decree (including stipulated

penalty payments under Section X (“Stipulated Penalties”) are penalties within the meaning of
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Section 162(f) of the Internal Revenue Code, 26 U.S.C. § 162(f), or of 26 C.F.R. § 1.162-21 and
are not tax deductible expenditures for purposes of federal law.

V. SPECIFIC PROVISIONS

A. MITIGATION

24. The Court’s October 24, 2000 Order Regarding Remedy Phase (Docket # 257)
requires Defendants to construct a mitigation project of at least 100 acres (including a buffer
zone) in order to restore the functions and benefits of the 54 acres of filled wetlands, to monitor
and maintain the mitigation project for 5 years and to ensure that the mitigation project will be
adequately funded. The February 11, 2003 Partial Finahderst(Docket # 271) additionally
requires Defendants to transfer title to the mitigation project acreage to an independent third
party with conservation management experience, to be\giphy the Court, and to include in
the deed or deeds transferring ownership appropriate restrictions to ensure that the mitigation
project acreage remains intact in perpetuity. These requirements, collectively, the “Mitigation
Work,” are incorporated into this Consent Decree, and Defendants shall continue to be bound by
them.

25. Defendants have undertaken to implement the Mitigation Work by constructing or
reconstructing wetlands on three parcels in Bay and Areoant{es, Michigan. These parcels,
collectively the “Mitigation Sites,” are designated as the Jay or J3 parcel, which is located at the
intersection of Sandy Drive (or Bay-Arenac) Road in Arenac County, and the Houghteling (or H)
and Johnson (or J1) parcels, which are in Bay County, betR&smotte Road and the D&M
Railroad. Legal descriptions of the Mitigation Sites are attached as Exhibit 4.

26. Defendants currently have in place a Second Amended Irrevocable Documentary
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Letter of Credit issued by Chemical Bank and Trust Company, dated July 17, 2007, Number
1417, attached as Exhibit 5, which ensures that the Mitigation Work will be adequately funded.
27. Upon certification by Dr. Gary Pierce, who has been apgabiby the Court to
oversee the Mitigation Work, that five years of monitoring has been completed and that wetlands
on the Mitigation Sites meet the performance standard set forth in the document entitled “A
Mitigation Plan for Restoring Forested and Shrub Wetlands As Ordered by United States District
Court Eastern District of Michigan Southern Division” dbfgril 3, 2005, Defendants shall
transfer title to the Mitigation Sites as required by thaddtton Work. At the time of or in
advance of such transfer, Defendants shall also transfer to a conservation management
organization selected by Dr. Gary Pierce, and approvecebynited States and by the Court,
sufficient funds to maintain the wetlands in perpetuitye @mount of funds necessary to
maintain the wetlands in perpetuity shall be recommended by Dr. Gary Pierce and approved by
the Court, but in no event shall it be less than $25,000.
28. Upon completion of the requirements of this Subsectidn {/Specific
Provisions - Mitigation”), the Second Amended Irrevocdbdeumentary Letter of Credit shall
be released and the United States shall execute any documents reasonably requested by
Defendants to document its release of such Letter of Credit.

B. PRESERVATION

29.  Attached as Exhibits 6 and 7 are maps of the Pine River Site, and the Hines Road
Site and a parcel contiguous to the Hines Road Site, which designate a total of 134.60 acres of
land, including 53.40 acres of wetlands, as conservateasgfConservation Areas”). Within

21 days after entry of this Consent Decree, Defendants will either record or deliver to the
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Michigan Department of Environmental Quality for recogdaonservation easements
(“Conservation Easements”) with the Midland County Register of Deeds in the form attached as
Exhibit 8 with respect to the Conservation Areas. These Conservation Easements preclude any
person from altering or developing the Conservation Areespe in accordance with the terms

of the Conservation Easements.

C. FUTURE WORK

30.  On Exhibit 6, there are also 13.40 acres of wetlands at the Pine River Site that
have been delineated by the Defendants and confirmed by the Michigan Department of
Environmental Quality (“MDEQ”) as wetlands, but that will not be subject to a conservation
easement as described herein (the “Pine River Wetlands”).

31. Defendants shall not mow, cut, clear, cultivate, dreebgeavate, farm, fill,
dewater, drain or otherwise disturb in any manner the Pine River Wetlands except as permitted
by the MDEQ pursuant to applicable State of Michigan lawsraled. Nothing contained herein
shall prevent Defendants from applying for permission fioenMDEQ to conduct such work in
the Pine River Wetlands, or to revise the delineation of ithe River Wetlands.

32. The Hines Road Site and its contiguous parcel consist of approximately 297 acres.
The Court’s March 24, 2000 Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law found 17 acres of the
Hines Road Site to be filled wetlands. Pursuant to Paragraph 29 of this Consent Decree,
Defendants are protecting 100 acres of the Hines Road Site and its contiguous parcel as
Conservation Areas, which 100 acres includes approximately 2 acres of the 17 acres of filled
wetlands. The other approximately 15 acres of filled wetlands are shown on Exhibit 7 and are

addressed by Paragraph 11 of this Consent Decree. The remaining approximately 182 acres of
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the Hines Road Site and its contiguous parae),297 - 100 - 15 = 182, are collectively the
“Hines Road Property” and are also shown on Exhibit 7. Defendants shall not mow, cut, clear,
cultivate, dredge, excavate, farm, fill, dewater, drain or otherwise disturb in any manner the
Hines Road Property except as permitted hereunder.

33. Prior to conducting any mowing, cutting, clearing, cultivating, dredging,
excavating, farming, filling, dewatering, draining orerise disturbing (collectively
“disturbing”) in any manner on any portion of the Hines Roaapérty, Defendant(s) shall
engage an expert to conduct an evaluation of the portior ¢fittes Road Property to be so
disturbed and to delineate wetlands regulated pursuant to Part 303 of the Michigan Natural
Resources and Environmental Protection Act, MCL 324.30301 et seq., if any, on such portion
and Defendant(s) shall confirm such evaluation with the MDEQ. Defendants agree not to disturb
any portion of the Hines Road Property prior to obtainingemence from the MDEQ or its
successor agency as to the regulatory status of the Hines Road Property.

34. In the event that any part of the relevant portion of tine$lRoad Property is
determined to be a wetland regulated by the State of Michifiendants shall not mow, cut,
clear, cultivate, dredge, excavate, farm, fill, dewater, drain or otherwise disturb in any manner the
relevant part unless permitted by the MDEQ. Nothing coethirerein shall prevent Defendants
from applying for permission from the MDEQ to conduct such work on the Hines Road Property.

VI. NOTICES AND OTHER SUBMISSIONS

35.  To ensure that the terms of this Consent Decree are edmpth, Defendants
shall, within fifteen (15) days of entry of this Consent [@ecrecord a certified copy of this

Consent Decree with the Registers of Deeds for Bay, Midland, and Arenac Counties in Michigan.
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36.  Within 30 days after a specified deadline for complatimgtask as set forth in
Sections V.A. (“Specific Provisions - Mitigation”) and \..BSpecific Provisions -

Preservation”) of this Consent Decree, Defendants shall provide the United States with written
notice, at the addresses specified in Section XI (“Addresses”), of whether or not that task has
been completed.

37. If the required task has been completed, the noticesgeify the date when it
was completed, and explain the reasons for any delay in ebampbeyond the scheduled time
for such completion required by this Consent Decree, if any.

38. In all notices, documents or reports submitted to theeti8tates pursuant to this
Consent Decree, the Defendants shall, by signature of a senior management official, certify such
notices, documents and reports as follows:

| certify under penalty of law that this document and all attachments were

prepared under my direction or supervision in accordance with a system designed

to assure that qualified personnel properly gather and evaluate the information

submitted. Based on my inquiry of the person or persons whagadhe system,

or those persons directly responsible for gathering such information, the

information submitted is, to the best of my knowledge anefh&lue, accurate

and complete. | am aware that there are significant penfdtisubmitting false

information, including the possibility of fine and imprisonment for knowing

violations.

Signature by John A. Rapanos shall satisfy this requirement on behalf of Defendants John A.
Rapanos, Judith Ann Nelkie Rapanos, Prodo, Inc., and Bdleadows Hunt Club. With
respect to Defendant Pine River Bluff Estates, signatudaiyh Ann Nelkie Rapanos shall

satisfy this requirement.

VII. RETENTION OF RECORDS AND RIGHT OF ENTRY

39. Until 1 (one) year after the termination of this ConsestrBe, Defendants shall
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preserve and retain all records and documents now in thssegsion or control or which come
into their possession or control that relate in any manri&etperformance of the tasks in
Section V (“Specific Provisions”), regardless of any corporate retention policy to the contrary.
Until 1 (one) year after the termination of this Consent Decree, Defendants shall also instruct
their contractors and agents to preserve all documents, records, and information of whatever
kind, nature or description relating to the performancéetasks in Section V (“Specific
Provisions”).

40.  After the conclusion of the document retention period, Defendants shall notify the
United States at least 90 days prior to the destruction of any such records or documents, and,
upon request by the United States, Defendants shall dahyesuch records or documents to
EPA. The Defendants may assert that certain documents, records and other information are
privileged under the attorney-client privilege or any other privilege recognyztetieral law. |If
the Defendants assert such a privilege, they shall provide the United Bitht the following:

(1) the title of the document, record, or information; (2) the date of the document, record, or
information; (3) the name and title of the author of the document, record, or information; (4) the
name and title of each addressee and recipient; (5) a destopthe subject of the document,
record, or information; and (6) the privilege asserted hemants. However, no documents,
reports or other information created or generated pursuant to the requirements of the Consent
Decree shall be withheld on the grounds that they are privileged.

41. A Until termination of this Consent Decree, upon reall@notice to
Defendants, the United States and its authorized representatives and contractors shall have the

authority at all reasonable times to enter the Defendansghéss address, the Mitigation Sites,
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the Conservation Areas, the Pine River Site, and the Hines Road Site, in order to either:
1) Monitor the activities required by this Consent Decree;
2) Verify any data or information submitted to the United&ta
3) Obtain samples;
4) Inspect and evaluate Defendants’ mitigation activities; or

5) Inspect and review any records required to be kept under the terms and
conditions of this Consent Decree and the CWA.

Nothing in this Consent Decree shall impose on Defendagtiegal responsibility for the health
or safety of persons entering these premises pursuant to this Paragraph 41(A).

Nothing in this Consent Decree shall preclude Defendants or their authorized
representatives or contractors from accompanying the United States or its authorized
representatives or contractors during any inspection conducted pursuant to this Paragraph 41(A).
The United States shall promptly provide to Defendants g abany measurements or data
(including laboratory data, photographs and/or video recordings) of, or relating to, any inspection
conducted pursuant to this Paragraph 41(A).

B. The provisions of this Consent Decree are in addition to, and in no way
limit, or otherwise affect, the statutory authorities @& tnited States to conduct inspections, to
require monitoring and to obtain information from the Defendants as authorized by law.

VIll. DISPUTE RESOLUTION

42.  Any dispute that arises with respect to the meaning airezgents of this
Consent Decree shall be, in the first instance, the subject of informal negotiations between the

United States and Defendant(s) affected by the dispute to attempt to resolve such dispute. The
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period for informal negotiations shall not extend beyond thirty (30) days beginning with written
notice by one party to the other affected party or partiesatdespute exists, unless agreed to in
writing by those parties. If a dispute between the United States and Defendant(s) cannot be
resolved by informal negotiations, then the position advanced by the United States shall be
considered binding unless, within fourteen (14) days after the end of the informal negotiations
period, one or more of the Defendant(s) files a motion with the Court seeking resolution of the
dispute. The motion shall set forth the nature of the dispute and a proposal for its resolution.
The United States shall have thirty (30) days to responetmtition and propose an alternate
resolution. In resolving any such dispute, the moving Defendant(s) shall bear the burden of
proving by a preponderance of the evidence that the United States’ position is not in accordance
with this Consent Decree and/or the CWA, and that the mowvafgridant(s)’ position will
achieve compliance with the terms and conditions of this Consent Decree and the CWA.

43. If the United States believes that a dispute is not a gitbddispute, or that a
delay would pose or increase a threat of harm to the public or the environment, it may move the
Court for a resolution of the dispute prior to the expiration of the thirty (30) day period for
informal negotiations. The Defendant(s) shall have fourteen (14) days to respond to the motion
and propose an alternate resolution. In resolving any such dispute, the Defendant(s) shall bear
the burden of proving by a preponderance of the evidence that the United States’ position is not
in accordance with the objectives of this Consent Decreetha the Defendants’ position will
achieve compliance with the terms and conditions of this Consent Decree and the CWA.

44.  The filing of a motion asking the Court to resolve a dispute shall not extend or

postpone any obligation of Defendants under this Consent Decree, except as provided in Section
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X (“Stipulated Penalties”).

IX. FORCE MAJEURE

45. Defendants shall perform the actions required undeDicree within the time
limits set forth or approved herein, unless the performance is prevented or delayebysalel
Force Majeure event. A Force Majeure event is defined as any event arising from causes beyond
the control of Defendants, including their employees, agents, consultants and contractors, which
could not be overcome by due diligence and which delays or prevents the performance of an
action required by this Consent Decree within the specified time period. A Force Majeure event
does not include, inter alia, increased costs of perforey@h@anged economic circumstances,
changed labor relations, normal precipitation or climate events, changed circumstances arising
out of the sale, lease or other transfer or conveyance of title or ownership or possession of a site,
or failure to obtain federal, state or local permits.

46. If Defendants believe that a Force Majeure event hagedf®efendants’ ability
to perform any action required under this Consent Decree, Defendants shall notify the United
States in writing within seven (7) calendar days after the event at the addresses listed in Section
XI (“Addresses”). Such notice shall include a discussion of the following:

A. what action has been affected;

B. the specific cause(s) of the delay;
C. the length or estimated duration of the delay; and
D. any measures taken or planned by the Defendants to prevent or minimize

the delay and a schedule for the implementation of such measures.

47. Defendants may also provide to the United States any additional information that
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they deem appropriate to support their conclusion that@eMdajeure event has affected their
ability to perform an action required under this Consenté&®ecFailure to provide timely
notification including the information described herein to the United States shall constitute a
waiver of any claim of Force Majeure as to the event in question.

48. If the United States determines that the conditions constitute a Force Majeure
event, then the deadline for the affected action shall be extended by the amount of time of the
delay caused by the Force Majeure event and no penalties shall apply to such extended period of
time. Defendants shall coordinate with EPA to determine when to begin or resume the
operations that had been affected by any Force Majeure event

49. If the parties are unable to agree whether the conditions constitute a Force
Majeure event, or whether the length of time for fulfilling the provision of the Consent Decree at
issue should be extended, any party may seek a resolutioe dispute under the procedures in
Section VIII (“Dispute Resolution”).

50. Defendant(s) asserting a Force Majeure event shall bear the burden of proving by
a preponderance of the evidence: (1) that the noncompliance at issue arose from causes beyond
the control of Defendant(s) and any entity controlled byebea#ant(s), including their employees,
agents, consultants and contractors; (2) that Defendant(s) or any entity controlled by
Defendant(s) could not have reasonably foreseen and prevented such noncompliance by the
taking of reasonable actions; (3) that Defendant(s), their employees, agents, consultants could not
have overcome the noncompliance by reasonable efforts; and (4) the number of days of

noncompliance that were caused by such circumstances.
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X. STIPULATED PENALTIES

51.  After entry of this Consent Decree, if Defendants fail to timely fulfill any
requirement of the Consent Decree, including all attactsraerd exhibits, the Defendants shall
pay a stipulated penalty to the United States for each iaplaf each requirement of this
Consent Decree as follows:

A. For Day 1 up to and including $500.00 per day
Day 30 of non-compliance

B. For Day 31 up to and including $1,000.00 per day
60 of non-compliance

C. For Day 61 and beyond $1,500.00 per day
of non-compliance

Such payments shall be made within thirty (30) days of treeafatccrual whether or not a
written demand is made.

52.  Anydisputes concerning the assessment of stipulated penalties, the amount of
stipulated penalties, or the underlying violation that gives rise to the stipulated penalties, that
cannot be resolved by the parties pursuant to Section VIII (“Dispute Resolution”) and/or Section
IX (“Force Majeure”) shall be resolved upon motion to this Court as provided in Section VIl
(“Dispute Resolution”).

53.  The filing of a motion requesting that the Court resolve a dispute shall stay
Defendants’ obligation to pay any stipulated penalties with respect to the disputed matter pending
resolution of the dispute. Notwithstanding the stay of maynstipulated penalties shall
continue to accrue from the first day of any failure or refusal to comply with any term or

condition of this Consent Decree. In the event that Defendants do not prevail on the disputed
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issue, stipulated penalties shall be paid by Defendants as provided in this Section.

54.  To the extent Defendant(s) demonstrates to the Court that a delay or other
non-compliance was due to a Force Majeure event as defined in Section IX (“Force Majeure”) or
otherwise prevails on the disputed issue, the Court shall excuse the stipulated penalties for that
delay or non-compliance.

55. In the event that a stipulated penalty payment is applicable and not made on time,
interest will be charged in accordance with the statutory judgment interest rate provided for in 28
U.S.C. 8§ 1961. The interest shall be computed daily from the time the payment is due until the
date the payment is made. The interest shall also be compounded annually.

56. Defendants shall make any payment of a stipulated pdayafiedWire Electronic
Funds Transfer (“EFT” or wire transfer) to the U.S. Department of Justice account in accordance
with current electronic funds transfer procedures, referencing U.S.A.O. file number 1994V00584,
EPA Region 5, and DOJ case number 90-5-1-1-4274. Paymdrtesh@ade in accordance with
instructions provided to the Defendants by the Financial Litigation Unit of the United States
Attorney’s Office for the Eastern District of Michigan. Any payments received by the
Department of Justice after 4:00 P.M. (Eastern Time) will be credited on the next business day.
Further, upon payment of any stipulated penalties, Defendants shall provide written notice, at the
addresses specified in Section XI (“Addresses”).

XI. ADDRESSES

57.  All notices and communications required under this Consent Decree shall be
made to the parties through each of the following personadar@sses:

A. TO EPA:

-20 -
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(2) John P. Steketee
Associate Regional Counsel
United States Environmental Protection Agency
Region 5
77 W. Jackson, Blvd (C-14J)
Chicago, IL 60604-3590
PH: (312) 886-0558
FAX: (312) 886-0747
Email: steketee.john@epa.gov

(2) David Schulenberg
United States Environmental Protection Agency
Region 5
77 W. Jackson Blvd
Chicago, IL 60604
PH: (312) 886-6680
FAX: (312) 886-0168
Email: schulenberg.david@epa.gov

B. TO THE UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE:

Daniel R. Dertke, Attorney

Environmental Defense Section
Environment and Natural Resources Division
U.S. Department of Justice

P.O. Box 23986

Washington, D.C. 20026-3986

PH: (202) 514-0994

FAX: (202) 514-8865

Email: daniel.dertke@usdoj.gov

C. TO DEFENDANTS:

(1) Arthur Siegal
Jaffe, Raitt, Heuer & Weiss, P.C.
27777 Franklin Road, Ste 2500
Southfield, MI 48034
PH: (248) 351-3000
FAX: (248) 351-3082
Email: asiegal@jaffelaw.com

(2) John A. Rapanos and Kristi Lynn Laundra
925 E. Wheeler Street
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Midland, Ml 48642
PH: (989) 839-0541
FAX: (989) 839-0744

Xll. COSTS OF SUIT

58. Each party to this Consent Decree shall bear its ownaodtsttorneys’ fees in
this action. Should Defendants subsequently be determined by the Court to have violated the
terms or conditions of this Consent Decree, Defendantstshhéble for any costs or attorneys’
fees incurred by the United States in any action against Defendants for noncompliance with or
enforcement of this Consent Decree.

Xlll. PUBLIC COMMENT

59.  The parties acknowledge that after the lodging andd#ierentry of this
Consent Decree, final approval by the United States isdubjéhe requirements of 28 C.F.R.
850.7, which provides for public notice and comment. Theddristates reserves the right to
withhold or withdraw its consent to the entry of this Consent Decree if the comments received
disclose facts which lead the United States to concludehtgtroposed Consent Decree is
inappropriate, improper, or inadequate. The Defendanée apt to withdraw from, oppose
entry of, or to challenge any provision of this Consent Decree, unless the United States has
notified the Defendants in writing that it no longer supports entry of the Consent Decree.

XIV. CONTINUING JURISDICTION OF THE COURT

60. This Court shall retain jurisdiction over this action in order to enforce or modify
the Consent Decree consistent with applicable law or to resolve all disputes arising hereunder as
may be necessary or appropriate for construction or execution of this Consent Decree. During

the pendency of the Consent Decree, any party may apply @otivé for any relief necessary to
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construe and effectuate the Consent Decree.

XV. MODIFICATION

61. Upon its entry by the Court, this Consent Decree shall have the force and effect of
a final judgment. Any modification of this Consent Decree shall be in writing, and shall not take
effect unless signed by both the United States and the Refesnahd approved by the Court.

XVI. TERMINATION

62. Except for Paragraphs 30-34 (relating to Section V&pdctific Provisions -
Future Work”) and Paragraph 39 (relating to Section VII (“Retention of Records and Right of
Entry”), this Consent Decree may be terminated by either of the following:

A. Defendants and the United States may at any time maket anjoiion to
the Court for termination of this Decree or any portion of it; or

B. Defendants may make a unilateral motion to the Court nartete this
Decree after each of the following has occurred:

1. Defendants have obtained compliance with all provisibrnisis
Consent Decree, including completion of the Mitigation Work and transfer of the
Mitigation Sites, and compliance with the CWA at the Pine River and Hines Road
Sites;

2. Defendants either (a) have maintained compliance with al
provisions of this Consent Decree, including completion of the Mitigation Work
and transfer of the Mitigation Sites, and compliance with the CWA at the Pine
River and Hines Road Sites, for twelve (12) consecutive months, or (b) no longer

hold title to, or control in any fashion, the Hines Road Site and the Pine River
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Site;

3. Defendants have paid all penalties and other monetary obligations
hereunder and no penalties or other monetary obligations are outstanding or owed
to the United States;

4, Defendants have certified compliance pursuant to saprohs 1
through 3 of this Paragraph to the United States; and

5. within forty-five (45) days of receiving such certification from the
Defendants, the United States has not contested in writing that such compliance
has been achieved. If the United States disputes Defehfidintempliance, this
Consent Decree shall remain in effect pending resolution of the dispute by the
Parties or the Court.

Termination of this Consent Decree shall relieve Defendants of further obligations and
liabilities hereunder, except those Paragraphs listed in this Section XVI (“Termination”).
IT IS SO ORDERED.

Dated and entered this day of , 20009.

United States District Judge
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Overall Legal Description for Pine River Site:

Part of the Southwest " of the Northwest " AND padf the Northwest " of the Northwest " AND part

of the Northwest " of the Southwest " of Section 28ND the North # of the Southeast " AND part of
the South # of the Northeast " AND part of the Nar# of the Southwest " AND part of the Southeast

" of the Southwest " of Section 26, All in T14N, R1EHomer Township, Midland County, Michigan
described as: Beginning at the South " of said ®&cP6, thence S89%$44'24°W, along the South line of
said Section 26, 1321.27 feet; thence NO0$05'00°%hcathe West 1/8 line of said Section 26, 322.04
feet; thence N89%$44'14°E 356.82 feet; thence NOA$LW 520.69 feet; thence S89$44'14°W 305.00
feet; thence along an intermediate traverse linghePine River the following ten courses, N25$Q%0
149.77 feet; thence N04$33'22°W 135.38 feet; thai2B$48'14°W 238.59 feet; thence N69$52'05°W
298.06 feet; thence S77$39'10°W 581.46 feet; thente$26'46°W 226.03 feet; thence N04$30'19°W
513.94 feet; thence N32$56'41°E 317.44 feet; thelB@$34'55°E 626.56 feet; thence N55$30'58°E
568.02 feet; thence leaving said traverse line, N823%, along the East-West " line of said Section
26, 1093.17 feet to the Center of said Section l&hnde NO0$07'23°W, along the North-South " line of
said Section 26, 498.94 feet; thence along an iniateetraverse line for the Pine River the follogvin
two courses, S82$44'20°E 424.18 feet; thence N69$3IB 652.43 feet; thence leaving said traverse line,
S003$07'23°E 761.52 feet; thence N893$47'22°E, altmgEast-West " line of said Section 26, 327.94
feet; thence NO0$06'43°W, along the East 1/8 linesaifl Section 26, 815.53 feet; thence along an
intermediate traverse line for the Pine River tHefaing two courses, N78$14'28°E 1291.45 feet; tteen
N41$40'10°E 584.09 feet; thence leaving said travelme, S87$30'44°E 497.47 feet; thence
S223$51'55°W 100.00 feet; thence S56$23'05°E 423e@D; thence N89$56'55°E 179.00 feet; thence
S003$03'05°E, along the West 1/8 line of said Sec?bn1199.10 feet; thence N893$50'29°W, parallel to
the East-West " line of said Section 25, 1323.4% fékence S00$15'08°E, along the East line of said
Section 26, 1290.54 feet; thence S89%$42'14°W, atbegSouth 1/8 line of said Section 26, 2638.87 feet;
thence S00$07'23°E, along the North-South " line sHid Section 26, 1327.47 feet to the Point of
Beginning. Contains 260.19 acres, more or lesshjeBt to easements, reservations, and restricibns
record, if any.
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Legal Description for Hines Road Site:

The Hines Road Site consists of land in Homer Townsimd the City of
Midland, Midland County, Michigan, consisting of 288.@cres, more or less,
and more particularly described as follows:

The Northwest 1/4 of Section 12, T14N, R1E,

EXCEPT a parcel described as commencing at thet Wdscorner of
Section 12, thence East 955.00 feet to the PoinBegfinning, thence North
240.00 feet; thence East 299.00 feet; thence Sa4&€h00 feet; thence West
299.00 feet to the Point of Beginning of this exaamtand

ALSO EXCEPT a parcel described as Beginning atSbaetheast corner
of the Northeast 1/4 of Section 12, thence Nort®.Q0 feet; thence West 208.00
feet; thence South 0.28 feet; thence West 103.86 feence South 27.72 feet;
thence West 570.00 feet; thence South 180 feencéh&ast 881.86 feet to the
Point of Beginning of this Exception;

AND

All that part of Section 1, T14N, R1E, lying Southtbé former C&O Railroad
right-of-way (now the Pere Marquette Railtrail) and stVef the North-South 1/8
Line;

EXCEPT a parcel known as the Duck Hunters Memoriayemfully
described on the page attached hereto.
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DUCK HUNTERS MEMORIAL ok D45 me 1297

LEGAL DESCRIPTION

PART OF SECTION 1, T14M-R1E, HOMER TOWNSHIP, MIDLAND COUNTY, MICHIGAN

BEGINNING N 00 DEG 12 MIN 28 SEC ¥, 224,77 FY. ALONG THE WEST SECTION LINE

AND S 57 DEG 04 MIN 28 SEC E, 2608.37 FT. ALONG THE SOUTHERLY RIGHT OF WAY

LINE OF THE PERE MARQUETTE RAIL TRAIL FROM THE WEST 1,4 CURNER OF SAID

- SECTION 1: THENCE S 16 DEG 55 MIN 34 SEC #, 155.58 FT.; THENCE N 32 DEG 31 MIN
29 °SEC W, 43.21 FT.: THENCE N 62 DEG 41 MIN 53 SEC W, 41,62 FT.; THENCE N 17 DEG
04 MIN 42 SEC W, 37.65 FT.; THENCE N 02 DEG 20 WIN 04 SEC ¥, 30.73 FT.: THENCE §
69 DEG 46 MIN 17 SEC W, 38.46 FT.; THENCE $ 76 DEG 12 MIN 07 SEC W, 36.55 FT.;
THENCE N 57 DEG 32 MIN 40 SEC W, 56.8% FT.; THENCE N 68 DEG 46 MIN 22 SEC K,
38.86 FT.: THENCE S 75 DEG 04 MIN 14 SEC W, 51,05 FT.; THENCE § 32 DEG 50 MIN 23
SEC E, 31.02 FT.: THENCE $ 52 DEG 10 MIN 32 SEC €, 41,51 FT.; THENCE S 87 DEG 08
MIN 17 SEC W, 29.87 FT.; THENCE $ 60 DEG 39 MIN 31 SEC ¥, 16.08 FT,; THENCE N 55
DEG 33 MIN 16 SEC W, 28.33 FT.; THENCE N 77 DEG 06 MIN 36 SEC W, 56.58 FT.;
THENCE N 67 DEG 52 MIN 51 SEC W, 43,51 FT.: THENCE § 01 DEG 48 MIN 41 SEC E,
19.92 FT.: THENCE S 62 DEG 28 MIN 33 SEC €, 23.75 FT.: THENCE 5 47 DEG 22 MIN 41
SEC E, 41.18 Fi.: THENCE S 64 DEG 59 MIN 28 SEC E, 35,15 FT.: THENCE 5 &/ DEG 39
MIN 38 SEC ¥. 15,00 FT,: THENCE § 42 DEG 18 MIN 27 SEC ¥, 14,46 FT.: THENCE S 01
DEG 07 MIN 16 SEC W, 18.45 FY.: THENCE S 29 DEG 08 MIN 30 SEC W, 21.32 FT.;
THENCE S 64 DEG 49 MIN 18 SEC W, 67.53 FT.; THENCE S 24 DEG 44 WIN 17 SEC W,
37.40 FT.: THENCE S 18 DEG 49 MIN 15 SEC W, 39.07 £1.; THENCE 5 40 DEG 1b MIN 13
SEC W, 45.20 FT.; THENCE S 48 DEG 47 MIN 51 SEC E, 24.20 FT,; THENCE N 74 DEG 06
MIN 26 SEC E, 28.91 FT.: THENCE N 17 DEG 51 MIN 35 SEC €, 32.92 FT,; THENCE'N 19
DEG 27 MIN 25 SEC E. 28.91 FT.: THENCE N 80 DEG 21 WIN 17 SEC E, 27.72 FT.; THENCE
S 68 DEG 21 MIN 49 SEC E. 30.70 FT.; THENCE N 87 DEG 09 MIN 22 SEC £, 33.49 FT.:
THENCE S 50 DEG 35 MIN 26 SEC E, 28,30 FT.; THENGE S 04 DEG 00 MIN 43 SEC E,
26.60 FT.: THENCE $ 60 DEG 19 MIN 23 SEC £, 70.58 FT.: THENCE 5 61 DEG 43 NIN 01
SEC E. 37.72 FT.: THENCE S 53 DEG 03 MIN 23 SEC £, 78,78 FT.; THENCE N 84 DEG 56
WIN 47 SEC £, 24.68 FT.; THENCE N 05 DEG 02 MIN 01 SEC W, 28,62 FT.: THENCE N 62
DEC 38 MIN 05 SEC E, 32.12 FT.; THENCE N 43 DEG 58 MIN 51 SEC E, 31.13 FT.; THENCE
S 57 DEG 28 MIN 12 SEC E, 22.13 FT.: THENCE S 28 DEG 39 MIN 35 SEC E, 30,27 FT.:
THENCE S 45 DEG 46 MIN 39 SEC W, 20.52 FT.: THENCE § 29 DEG 57 MIN 00 SEC E,
29,71 FT.: THENCE § 53 DEG 27 MIN 05 SEC £, 32,53 FT.: THENCE S 13 DEG 42 MIN 37
SEC E, 45.25 FT.; THENCE S 10 DEG 27 MIN 42 SEC £, 43.34 FT.; THENCE S 32 DEG 08
MIN 04 SEC E. 47.2d FT.: THENCE S 41 DEG 50 MIN 49 SEC E, 45.18 FT.; THENCE S 57
DEG 41 MIN 31 SEC E. 42.44 ET.; THENCE S 42 DEG 58 MIN 45 SEC E, 47,48 FT.; THENCE
< 27 DEG 40 MIN 33 SEC E, 36.72 FT.; THENCE S 45 DEG 27 MIN 01 SEC E, 42,48 FT..
THENCE § 35 DEG 48 MIN 15 SEC €, 38,96 FT.: THENCE § 76 DEG 00 MIN 56 SEC &,
30.18 FT.; THENCE N 63 DEG 31 MIN 50 SEC E, 15.82 FT.; THENCE N 16 DEG D1 MIN 02
SEC E. 18.39 FT.: THENCE N 24 DEG 33 MIN 28 SEC ¥, 40,51 FT,; THENCE N 32 DEG 35
WIN 07 SEC W, 20.68 FT.: THENCE N 56 DEG 51 MIN 02 SEC E, 21.01 FT.; THENCE 5 47
DEG 54 MIN 20 SEC E, 25.82 FT.: THENCE S 46 DEG 21 MIN 36 SEC €, 36.08 FT.: THENCE
S 43 DEG 40 MIN 57 SEC £, 54.55 FT.: THENCE N 60 DEG 47 MIN 07 SEC E, 141,21 FT.;
THENCE N 00 DEG 59 MIN 38 SEC £, 49,01 FT.; THENCE N 50 OEG 52 WIN 56 SEC ¥,
36.87 FT.: THEMCE N 61 DEG 22 MIN 06 SEC ¥, 36.20 FT.; THENCE N 45 DEG 26 MIN 47
SEC £, 23.98 FT.: THENCE N 75 DEG 51 MIN 30 SEC £, 371.13 FT.; THENCE N 69 DEG 22
MIN 44 SEC £, 45.40 FT.; THENCE S 78 DEG 1T MIN 33 SEC E, 31.18 FT.: THENCE N 63
OEG 37 MIN 23 SEC E, 31.67 FT.: THENCE N 36 DEG 25 MIN 36 SEC t. 41.82 FT,; THENCE
N 15 DEG 48 MIN 45 SEC £. 28.10 FT.; THENCE N 50 DEG 17 MIN 28 SEC ¥, 35.70 FT.;
THENGE N 86 DEG 45 MIN 09 SEC W, 32,32 FF.; THENCE N 52 DEG 14 MIN 35 SEC W,
37.89 FT.: [HENCE N 02 DEG 48 MIN 11 SEC E, 32.21 FT.: THENCE N 14 DEG 20 MIN 21
SEC W, 55.94 FT.; THENCE N 54 DEG 19 MIN 55 SEC E, $3.38 FT.: THENCE N 57 DEG 04
WIN 28 SEC W, 576.57 FT. ALONG THE SOUTHERLY RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF THE PERE
MAROUETTE RAIL TRAIL [0 THE POINT OF BEGINNING. CONTAINING 8.62 ACRES.

ERNME A&, SCHAFER, Pf&. 16409
1497
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DESCRIPTION OF HOUGHTELING PROPERTY

A parcel of land located in Pinconning Township, Bay@ty Michigan described as follows:

The Northeast ¥4 of the Northwest % of Section &yiTd7 North, Range 5 East, EXCEPT the
right of way for Townline Road on the North side ofdsiind.

Property Tax ID number 09-120-037-100-040-00
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DESCRIPTION OF JOHNSON PROPERTY

A parcel of land located in Pinconning Township, Bayty, Michigan described as follows:

The Southwest Y4 of the Northwest Y4, lying East of tBdDRailroad Right of Way in Section
6, Town 17 North, Range 5 East, Subject to easentastsictions, and reservations of record.

Property Tax ID number 09-120-037-100-050-02
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DESCRIPTION OF JAY PROPERTY

A parcel of land in the Southeast ¥ of Section 3dwil8 North — Rang 5 East, Standish
Township, Arenac County, Michigan described as follows

Beginning at the South %4 corner of said SectionnebeN.00° - 15-52"E., on the North and

South ¥ line of said Section, 1328.19 feet; thend®/N- 12'-52"E., 69.80 feet; thence N.77°-
40’-38"E., 248.74 feet; thence N.85°-24’-30’E., X&B feet; thence N.82°-31'-17"E., 312.77

feet; thence N.85°-31'-18"E., 402.35 feet; thenc88%48’-44"E., 383.49 feet; thence S.73°-

39-41"E., 84.09 feet to the Westerly line of Al Heper's Beach Subdivision as recorded in
Volume 2 of Plats on Page 42 of Arenac County Réssathence S.05°-20’-06"W.(recorded as
S.04°-46-45"W.), on said Westerly line, 400.39 féetcorded as 400.17 feet); thence S.13°-28'-
17"W.(recorded as S.13°-02-45"W.), on said Westdniye, 440.70 feet (recorded as 442.18
feet); thence S.04°-24’-57"W.(recorded as S.04°4&2'W.), on said Westerly line,.456.91 feet

(recorded as 458.18 feet); thence S.88°-08-12"Wdrded as S.87°-54-45"W.), 429.94 feet

(recorded as 432.40 feet); thence S.08°54’-04"Wofred as S.07°-24’-45"W.), 158.91 feet

(recorded as 159.00 feet) to South line of said &ecthence S.89°-11'-29"W. (recorded as
S.88°-53-15"W.), on said South line, 1117.40 feetthe point of beginning, subject to any

easements of record.

Property Tax ID number 010-1-031-400-005-01
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